FILE COPY

NO. 22-0035



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA DO NOT KEMUVE GARY DETEMPLE, FROM FILE

Petitioner,

v.

AMERICAN ADVISORS GROUP, A California Corporation,

Respondent.

(ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OHIO COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-C-249)

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner:

Jason E. Causey (Bar #9482) Bordas & Bordas, PLLC 1358 National Road Wheeling, WV 26003 T: 304-242-8410 F: 304-242-3936 jcausey@bordaslaw.com

Martin P. Sheehan, Esq. (Bar #4812) Sheehan & Nugent, PLLC 41 Fifteenth Street Wheeling, WV 26003 T: 304-232-1064 sheehanbankruptcy@wvdsl.net Counsel for Respondent:

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE A GENUINE DISPUTE OF FACTS EXISTED AS TO WHETHER THE REVERSE MORTGAGE LOAN AT ISSUE WAS INCURRED PRIMARILY FOR A PERSONAL, FAMILY, OR HOUSEHOLD PURPOSE
 - A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO REALIZE THAT WHETHER A LOAN IS *PRIMARILY* FOR A PERSONAL, FAMILY OR HOUSEHOLD PURPOSE IS DETERMINED BY THE ENTIRE CIRCUMSTANCES AND IS HIGHLY FACT INTENSIVE.
 - B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO REALIZE THAT A LOAN MAY HAVE BOTH A CONSUMER AND COMMERICAL PURPOSE AND IN SUCH CIRCUMSTANCES AN ANALYSIS IS NECESSARY TO DETERMINE THE PRIMARY PURPOSE.
 - C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO ADDRESS UNRESOLVED FACTUAL DISPUTES REGARDING THE PRIMARY PURPOSE OF THE REVERSE MORTGAGE LOAN.
 - D. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FINDING IN ITS ORDER DENYING PETITIONER'S RULE 59 MOTION THAT PETITIONER WAS NOT "AGGRIEVED" DUE TO A PERCEIVED "COMMERCIAL ADVANTAGE"

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Posture

The Petitioner Gary DeTemple brought an action in circuit court seeking statutory remedies and compensatory damages pertaining to certain violations of the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act, W.Va. Code § 46A-1-1 *et seq.* (the "CCPA") and the West Virginia Residential Mortgage Lender, Broker and Servicer Act, W.Va. Code § 31-17-1 *et seq.* (the "RMLBSA") that are evident in the reverse mortgage transaction that he entered into with American Advisor Group ("AAG").

Petitioner commenced this action on September 1, 2017 in the Ohio County Circuit Court. An Amended Complaint was filed on December 20, 2017. This matter was reassigned to Judge Michael Olejasz on July 15, 2020, after a motion to recuse Judge David Sims was filed by Respondent AAG. Petitioner's Amended Complaint included six separate counts, some of which include allegations that multiple statutory provisions were violated. Counts 1-3 pertain to an alleged unauthorized practice of law, Count 4 alleges unauthorized charges and prohibited loan practices under RMLBSA, Count 5 alleges unauthorized charges under the CCPA, and Count 6 pertains to unconscionable terms or unconscionable inducement under the CCPA.

Factually, the Petitioner sought to establish below that (1) Respondent AAG engaged in a loan closing without allowing Mr. DeTemple counsel or at least his counsel of choice; (ii) AAG charged Mr. DeTemple excessive fees in conjunction with the loan closing; and (iii) AAG failed to provide Mr. DeTemple with signed copies of the loan documents at closing. Following cross motions for summary judgment, the circuit court granted judgment on all counts in favor of AAG. The circuit court based its judgment order on three findings. First, the circuit court dismissed Counts 1-3 by finding no unauthorized practice of law because the notary performing the closing brought a letter from an attorney unknown to Mr. DeTemple indicating said attorney was available by telephone to answer any questions of Mr. DeTemple, and the notary had a pre-existing contractual relationship with this attorney. While Petitioner disagrees with the circuit court's logic and conclusion, this issue is not being presented on appeal.

Second, relying on language from the Reverse Mortgage Enabling Act specifically W.Va. Code §47-24-8(c), the circuit court held that reverse mortgage lenders which issue loans under a federal program (representing virtually all reverse mortgages available in the current market) are exempt from the *entire* West Virginia Code. Following a timely Motion to Amend or Alter Judgment, the circuit court vacated its prior holding and adopted the

Petitioner's interpretation of the applicable statutes. Order on Rule 59 Motion at 2-3. JA-8-9. Accordingly, it is not necessary to present this issue on appeal.

Finally, the circuit court dismissed Counts 4-6 by finding that the subject loan was for a commercial purpose opposed to a consumer purpose and, therefore, consumer protection laws did not apply. Order Granting Summary Judgment at 3. JA-4. The circuit court denied Petitioner's Rule 59 Motion on this issue and added a comment that Petitioner was not "aggrieved" because of his commercial pursuits. Order on Rule 59 Motion at 2-3. These statements appear to be mere dicta and do not correspond to the prior summary judgment order or underlying motions. The circuit court's statements in this regard are themselves vague and ambiguous. Out of an abundance of caution, to the extent these statements may not be dicta, Petitioner seeks review of any such finding on appeal.

B. Factual Background

The Petitioner Gary DeTemple owns a personal home in Ohio County, West Virginia. In late December of 2014, the Petitioner, who was over the minimum age of 62 required for a Home Equity Conversion Mortgage ("HECM"), commonly known as a reverse mortgage loan, inquired of AAG about obtaining a reverse mortgage for his principal residence. See, Deposition of AAG's corporate representative Victor Sanchez at 28. JA-266. What Petitioner did not know then was the loan process he was starting would take nearly 9 months. According to an emailed apology sent by AAG loan agent, David Schmidt, to Gary DeTemple on August 6, 2015, "[n]ormally the turn time from start to finish is only 60 days and your file was highly delayed." JA-282.

Nearly, a month later the loan eventually closed on September 2, 2015. Petitioner was charged \$7,325 in total settlement charges. JA-285. At closing, AAG charged and collected multiple fees related to legal services that Petitioner alleged to be excessive, illusory, and

duplicitous in nature, including:

- 1. \$395 for a "Settlement or Closing Fee"
- 2. \$375 for an "Attorney Closing Fee"
- 3. \$595 for a "Title Examination Fee"
- 4. \$295 for an "Abstract or title search"

Despite all these fees, Petitioner did not have the benefit of an attorney at the closing. Nor did the Petitioner receive a signed copy of the closing documents at the closing. Deposition of DeTemple at 65. JA-311. To understand how all this occurred, we must begin with the loan application.

A Residential Loan Application for Reverse Mortgages was first signed by Mr. DeTemple on March 13, 2015 and immediately returned to AAG. Deposition of Sanchez at 25-28. JA-265-266.¹ The stated purpose for the loan according to the application was for home improvements. *See*, JA-293-299. Thereafter, the loan was delayed by AAG because of "an issue with the property address" and related title issue. See, Deposition of Sanchez at 28-29. JA-266.

Mr. DeTemple grew weary of the delay and perceived ineptitude of AAG's chosen title provider and requested to use his own counsel, Lantz Law Offices. See letter from DeTemple to AAG dated May 28, 2015. JA-283. Shortly, thereafter, Lantz Law Offices was engaged and conducted a title search. On June 17, 2015, it provided a Commitment for Title Insurance. JA-289. Lantz Law was never paid by AAG for this title work or any services it performed. Deposition of Sanchez at 59. JA-270.

FNC Title Services, LLC ("FNC") also provided a title report around the same time as Lantz Law Office. *See*, JA-289 at entry dated 6/11/2015 ("So we got title today from FNC ...").

¹ Unlike most conventional mortgages, reverse mortgages require the borrower to first obtain counseling pertinent to this complex loan product prior to signing an application. The lender typically arranges for the counseling, which is often conducted by way of a video presentation, and the borrower pays for it outside of closing. See, Sanchez Deposition at 59-60 noting the counseling occurred, here, on February 26, 2015. JA-270.

In fact unbeknownst to Mr. DeTemple and contrary to what he was led to believe, AAG ordered a title report from FNC on June 1, 2015. *See*, JA-315. Thus, as of 6/17/2015 competing title reports existed. FNC is an affiliate of AAG. The President and 15.34% owner of AAG is one of 4 corporate officers and owns 49% of FNC. See, JA-300.

The Affiliated Business Arrangement Disclosure Statement required by federal law provides that the borrower is not required to use the affiliated provider and that he is "free to shop around" and it further discloses that AAG's President may receive financial and other benefits from the referral to FNC. "[Borrowers] can elect to choose one that is identified by AAG or they can choose to shop around and select their own service provider." Deposition of Sanchez at 93. JA-273.

Due to this supposed confusion over the property address and title delays, the initial loan was terminated and a new loan file created on June 25, 2015. *See*, JA-289. The purpose of the loan listed on the new loan application was "Leisure," as some of Mr. DeTemple's home improvement plans had been completed by this time given the lengthy delay. See, Deposition of DeTemple at 25 (JA-466); JA 123-136 (loan application). Mr. DeTemple would go on to use the loan funds for multiple vacations and the purchase of two boats among other items relating to "leisure", as well as further home improvements. JA-455-459.

After the creation of the new loan file, Mr. DeTemple continued to insist orally and in writing that Lantz Law Office provide both the title and closing services for the loan. *See*, JA-301-304. Mr. DeTemple had a strong preference for Lantz Law Office and wanted his lawyer to review the fees that were being charged. "And, of course, I wanted Lantz Law Office to do it, because I know those people and trust them people. And the people in California weren't doing well ..." Deposition of DeTemple at 45; see also *id.* at 47 (discussing his belief that Lantz Law's fees would be less than the providers AAG assigned to him) & 51 (indicating he wanted

Lantz Law to review the high closing costs on his behalf). JA-309-310.

However, contrary to its own disclosures indicating the borrower had the right to shop for service providers and prior representations that it would indeed accept Lantz Law, AAG never made a genuine attempt to use Lantz Law as either the title or settlement provider. Eventually in late August, AAG broke the news to Mr. DeTemple that he was not permitted to use his attorney after all. Deposition of DeTemple at 32. JA-307. He was told AAG would use its attorney to perform the closing. Deposition of DeTemple at 45. JA-309.

In the deposition of its corporate representative, AAG characterizes its denial of Mr. DeTemple's counsel of choice as an "oversight" and offers no explanation for its conduct. Deposition of Sanchez at 36-37 & 106. JA-267, JA-275. Former defendant and notary public Frank Pearson performed the closing without an attorney present. Mr. DeTemple had no notice prior to the closing that an attorney would not be present to advise him at closing. See, JA-904-905. Pearson has no training as a lawyer or paralegal. Deposition of Pearson at 22 & 43. JA-327, 329. Mr. Pearson disclaimed providing any legal services. Deposition of Pearson at 23. JA-327. Nonetheless, the parties below disputed whether Pearson engaged in the unauthorized practice of law or was acting under the direct supervision of a lawyer. See *Dijkstra vs. Carenbauer, et al.*, 2014 WL 791140, USDCNDWV Case No. 5:11-cv-152.²

A third loan application signed for closing again indicated that the purpose of the loan was for "Leisure." JA-116-122.

² The instant matter involves two peculiar facts that are distinct from those at issue in *Dijkstra*: (1) the borrower attempted to select and use an attorney to conduct the closing but this was ultimately not allowed by the lender in contravention of its stated policy, loan disclosures, and federal law; and (2) the notary brought with him to closing a letter from an attorney unknown to the borrower indicating he would be available to answer legal questions by telephone. See, Exhibit 7 to Sanchez Deposition. JA-332.

C. Standard of Review and Applicable Law

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." *Estate of Helmick ex* rel. Fox v. Martin, 192 W.Va. 501, 453 S.E.2d 335 (1994). In order to prevail on a motion for summary judgment, the moving party must prove "that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." W.Va. RCP 56(c). "A party is not entitled to summary judgment unless the facts established show a right to judgment with such clarity **as to leave no room for controversy** and show affirmatively that the adverse party cannot prevail under any circumstances." *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 148 W.Va. 160, 171, 133 S.E.2d 770, 777 (1963) (emphasis added). "A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." Syl. Pt. 3, *Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co.*

"In determining on review whether there is a genuine issue of material fact between the parties, the Supreme Court will construe the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party." *Alpine Property Owners Ass'n v. Mountaintop Dev. Co.*, 179 W.Va. 12, 17, 365 S.E.2d 57, 62, (1987). A genuine issue or dispute is simply one "about which reasonable minds could differ." *Dent v. Fruth*, 192 W. Va. 506, 510, 453 S.E.2d 340, 344 (1994). A material fact "is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the applicable law." Syl. pt. 5, in part, *Jividen v. Law*, 194 W.Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995). The burden is entirely on the Respondent, as the moving party below, to show that the facts are so well-developed that there are no more genuine issues as to any material fact. "A party who moves for summary judgment has the burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of fact and **any doubt** as to the existence of such issue **is resolved against the movant** for such judgment." Syl. Pt. 2, *Justus v*.

Dotson, 161 W.Va. 443, 242 S.E.2d 575 (1978) (Citing Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co., Supra) (emphasis added).

In ruling on summary judgment, the courts are limited to the record before them, and are not free to supplement that record. "The court must grant the nonmoving party the benefit of inferences, as credibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge." *Cavender v. Fouty*, 195 W.Va. 94, 464 S.E.2d 736 (1995) (emphasis added). Circuit court judges are not permitted to base their findings of fact on "personal knowledge as distinguished from proof of such facts." *Boggs v. Settle*, 150 W.Va. 330, 338, 145 S.E.2d 446, 451 (1965).

In this case, the circuit court ignored the Petitioner's evidence to the contrary and relied entirely on uncertain deposition testimony of the Petitioner that was expressly subject to confirmation. The circuit court failed to even acknowledge the contemporaneous evidence in the form of three separate loan applications in its judgment order let alone the significance of those applications under analogous federal law. Instead, the court exceeded its authority at summary judgment by resolving genuine factual disputes before trial and thereby committed reversible error.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Multiple violations of the CCPA and the RMLBSA are evident in the reverse mortgage transaction that Petitioner entered into with AAG, the nation's largest reverse mortgage lender. AAG concealed its overcharging and other misconduct from the borrower, Gary DeTemple, by virtue of denying him legal counsel for purposes of performing a title search and, more importantly, a residential real estate loan closing. Instead of allowing Mr. DeTemple to use his own counsel after repeated requests, AAG obtained a separate title commitment from an affiliated business and sent only a notary to close the loan. To make matters worse, AAG

charged Mr. DeTemple twice for the lawyer, who did not bother to show up to the closing. The charges are not only duplicitous but, moreover, are of a nature and in amounts not permissible under West Virginia law. Through this action, the circuit court was asked to remedy the mistreatment of a West Virginia senior.

The Petitioner has more than made the prima facie showing necessary to warrant a trial on the merits as to his claims that AAG violated (i) statutory provisions pertaining to the inducement of the loan by unconscionable conduct; (ii) statutory provisions that prohibit the charging of title search fees by *related* third parties; (iii) statutory provisions that prohibit the collection of any attorney fee at closing in excess of the fee that has been or will be remitted to the attorney and the collection of a fee for a product or service (such as an "attorney closing") where the product or service is not actually provided; and (iv) statutory provisions that require the lender to provide the borrower with a signed copy of the closing file at closing. AAG has made several admissions supporting the same.

However, the circuit court never reached these issues of liability. The circuit court determined that neither the CCPA nor the RMLBSA applied because it concluded the subject loan was a "commercial" loan rather than a "consumer" loan protected by statute. The circuit court's decision was based entirely on select excerpts from the Petitioner's deposition. In this regard, the circuit court erred because it failed to recognize that the deposition testimony was not conclusive and indeed contradicted by other testimony from the Petitioner and from AAG. Moreover, the circuit court failed to acknowledge the best possible evidence of the purpose of the loan that being the statements made in not one but in three contemporaneous loan applications. Finally, the circuit court erred by disregarding bank statements that demonstrated the vast majority of loan proceeds were not used for the supposed commercial purpose. Plainly

then, drawing all inferences in favor of the non-moving party material questions of fact remain that should prohibit a circuit court from granting summary judgment.

Finally, the circuit court exceeded its authority in finding that Petitioner's claims could be dismissed because he was not "aggrieved" in its post judgment order without ever providing notice or an opportunity for the Petitioner to be heard on the issue. Regardless, the petitioner was aggrieved in a classic pocket book form when he paid for closing services he did not receive and was otherwise overcharged at closing.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to R. A. P. 10(c)(6), oral argument is necessary as the dispositive issues would be significantly aided by oral argument. Petitioner requests that the Court set this matter for Rule 19 argument because the case involves a result against the weight of the evidence. Petitioner believes that a memorandum decision may be appropriate.

V. ARGUMENT

In granting summary judgment, the circuit court failed to hold the Respondent to its high burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact remained. The parties disagreed on the primary purpose of the underlying transaction, and provided evidence in support of both positions that left the issue unresolved. This clear factual disagreement is material. The entire case rests upon its determination. As the non-moving party, the Petitioner was entitled to all inferences in his favor, and to have the evidence viewed in a light most favorable to him. Instead, the circuit court denied the Petitioner those reasonable inferences in granting summary judgment, and then compounded that error by making unsupported findings at the Rule 59 stage without input from the parties.

A. THE DETERMINATION OF WHETHER A LOAN IS *PRIMARILY* FOR A PERSONAL, FAMILY OR HOUSEHOLD PURPOSE IS DETERMINED BY THE ENTIRE CIRCUMSTANCES AND IS HIGHLY FACT INTENSIVE.

Rule 56(c) requires a party seeking summary judgment to show that no genuine issue of material fact remains such that judgment as a matter of law is warranted on those undisputed facts. Despite contrary information in the loan file itself and, importantly, on all of the loan applications, the circuit court found Respondent had met its burden of showing that Mr. DeTemple's reverse mortgage loan was for a commercial purpose and not covered by the CCPA or RMLBSA.

In moving for summary judgment, the Respondent relied on *Morris v. Marshall*, 172 W.Va. 405, 305 S.E.2d 581 (1983). However, the loan at issue here looks nothing like the loan at issue in *Morris*. In fact, the loan in *Morris* was characterized by the parties as a "Dealer Agreement."

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