NO. 22-0035



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

GARY DETEMPLE,

Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

v.

AMERICAN ADVISORS GROUP, a California corporation,

Respondent.

(ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OHIO COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-C-249)

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Floyd E. Boone Jr. (W. Va. Bar No. 8784)
Patrick C. Timony (W. Va. Bar No. 11717)
Zachary J. Rosencrance (W. Va. Bar No. 13040)
BOWLES RICE LLP
600 Quarrier Street
Charleston, West Virginia 25325-1386
Tel.: (304) 347-1100 / Fax: (304) 343-3058
fboone@bowlesrice.com
ptimony@bowlesrice.com
zrosencrance@bowlesrice.com
Counsel for American Advisors Group

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

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In its December 16, 2021 Order, the Circuit Court astutely observed that Mr. DeTemple was attempting to "have his cake and eat it too." This statement could not be more true. Before applying for this loan, Mr. DeTemple purchased an undeveloped lot on Hubbard Road, Bethlehem, West Virginia for \$3,000.00. To fully develop the property, Mr. DeTemple needed more money. He applied for and received a HECM loan from AAG. The loan enabled Mr. DeTemple to access over \$79,000.00 of equity in his residence to use to finish the construction of two townhouses. Mr. DeTemple took the maximum withdrawals from his HECM loan and paid his own construction firm, Shadyside, to finish construction. Prior to the Circuit Court's dispositive ruling, Mr. DeTemple sold one of the townhouses for \$120,000.00. In other words, through receipt of this loan from AAG, Mr. DeTemple more than doubled his investment. Yet, despite this resounding

commercial success, on September 1, 2017, Mr. DeTemple filed his Complaint requesting the Circuit Court to cancel the very loan he just utilized and to impose civil penalties and attorneys' fees against AAG. The Circuit Court saw through Mr. DeTemple's charade.

With respect to the claims at issue in this appeal, Mr. DeTemple could not prove either unconscionable inducement or unconscionability under the CCPA. Unconscionability requires a combination of substantive and procedural unconscionability. It requires evidence of terms so one-sided or a loan so unfair that the contract lacks fundamental fairness. None of these circumstances exist here. This HECM loan worked great for Mr. DeTemple. It infused cash into a project and allowed him to more than double his investment. There is nothing inherently unfair in this transaction. Likewise, no evidence supports unconscionable inducement. Mr. DeTemple fully understood the terms of the HECM loan and even participated in HECM counseling before applying. The HECM counseling explained how the HECM loan product worked, its costs, and its terms. Indeed, the HECM counseling is dispositive of the inducement claim. Mr. DeTemple also read and signed all of the loan closing documents, which meticulously disclosed each of the finance charges and settlement expenses he was assessed. There is no unconscionable inducement, here. Instead, Mr. DeTemple knowingly and willingly entered into the loan to his benefit.

Mr. DeTemple's remaining claims under the RMLA and CCPA similarly fail. Mr. DeTemple fails to meet the criteria under either act to pursue claims because he obtained the HECM for a commercial purpose and not primarily for "a personal, family, or household" purpose. The evidence is clear that Mr. DeTemple used the money from the loan to build the Hubbard Property townhouses, which he intended to sell for a profit through his limited liability company

⁸ Mr. DeTemple elected not to appeal the Circuit Court's award of summary judgment on Counts I-III related to the alleged unauthorized practice of law.

Hubbard Townhouse, LLC. Under oath, Mr. DeTemple testified to this fact multiple times during his deposition. The checks to Shadyside for construction of the townhouse follow the distributions under the loan. Even without this evidence, Mr. DeTemple admits that he cannot meet his burden to show the HECM loan was a "primary loan" or a "consumer loan," which is necessary to bring the loan within the scope of either the RMLA or the CCPA. There is no evidence of any duplicative fees or joint venture to impose liability against AAG. As a result, there was no issue of fact and the Circuit Court correctly awarded summary judgment to AAG.

In the end, the Circuit Court correctly resolved this case. Mr. DeTemple lacked evidence to survive summary judgment on his claims under the RMLA and CCPA. This Court should affirm the Circuit Court's Orders in their entirety.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is this case is completely unnecessary. This is a frivolous appeal under Rule 18(a)(2) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure and allowing oral argument for this matter under these facts would not be prudent or a wise use of judicial time and resources.

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court reviews circuit court summary judgment decisions using a *de novo* standard of review. *See* Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 451 S.E.2d 755 (W. Va. 1994). This Court "determine[s] whether the stated reasons for the granting of summary judgment by the lower court are supported by the record." *See Westfall v. Dunbar*, 517 S.E.2d 479, 484 (W. Va. 1999). Review requires "examin[ation] [of] whether there remains any genuine issues of fact to be tried and whether

⁹ Certainly, Mr. DeTemple attempted to create issues of fact, but these efforts fail. Mr. DeTemple submitted answers to interrogatories months after the due date and close of discovery and tried to contradict his sworn discovery answers. This sham tactic does not create a factual dispute. Even if this Court indulged Mr. DeTemple and considered his belated and fabricated responses, at their core, Mr. DeTemple claims he lacks the ability to determine how he used the loan proceeds and he carries the burden of proof to submit evidence as to the "personal, family or household" purpose for the loan.

further inquiry regarding the facts is desirable to clarify application of the law." See Blessing v. Nat'l Eng. & Contracting Co., 664 S.E.2d 152, 154 (W. Va. 2008).

A. The Circuit Court correctly granted summary judgment because Mr. DeTemple did not incur the HECM loan for primarily personal, family or household purposes.

In his Amended Complaint, Mr. DeTemple attempted to pursue claims against AAG under both the RMLA and the CCPA. [J.A. at 14-16.] For these statutes to apply, the HECM loan must either be a "primary mortgage loan," under the RMLA, and/or a "consumer loan," under the CCPA. The RMLA defines a "primary mortgage loan" as "any loan primarily for personal, family or household use that is secured by a mortgage, deed of trust or other equivalent consensual security interest." *See* W. VA. CODE § 31-17-1(m). Likewise, the CCPA defines a "consumer loan," in pertinent part, as a "debt [] incurred primarily for a personal, family, household or agricultural purpose." W. VA. CODE § 46A-1-102(15). All the claims at issue in this appeal hinge on Mr. DeTemple establishing his burden that he obtained the HECM loan "primarily for a personal, family, [or] household" purpose. Mr. DeTemple simply failed to produce evidence to create a material issue that he incurred the loan for consumer purposes.

AAG agrees with Mr. DeTemple that the statutory definitions used in West Virginia's consumer protection statutes have their origin in the Federal Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"). Like West Virginia's consumer statutes, TILA makes clear that loans made "primarily for business, commercial, or agricultural purposes" are exempt from its coverage. 15 U.S.C. § 1603. It is well-settled under TILA case law that when loan proceeds are primarily used for commercial purposes, TILA does not apply. See St. Hill v. Tribeca Lending Corp., 403 Fed. App'x 717 (3d Cir. 2010)

¹⁰ Mr. DeTemple cites to a panoply of cases for the proposition that "[a] statement in the loan file that the loan is or is not for a covered purpose is generally dispositive." [Pet. Br. at 13.] The cited cases are inapposite. See Stillman v. First Nat. Bank, 791 P.2d 23 (Idaho Ct. App. 1990) (consumer arguing for ex post formulation of the lender's duty on commercial loan which would require monitoring of consumer spending on account); Winkle v. Grand Nat. Bank, 601 S.W.2d 559 (Ark. 1980) (same); Toy Nat'l Bank of

(despite home serving as collateral, loan is for commercial purposes when the pay-off of business debts was the "but-for" cause for the loan); Weaver v. Real Estate Funding, LLC, No. 09-101, 2010 WL 1662991 (D. Md. Apr. 21, 2010) (no TILA coverage for loan where proceeds were used for commercial purposes); Dunn v. Meridian Mortg., No. 3:09-cv-18, 2009 WL 1165396 (W.D. Va. May 1, 2009), aff'd, 334 Fed. App'x 566 (4th Cir. 2009) (no TILA liability because the loan was used for business purpose); Bokros v. Associates Fin., Inc., 607 F. Supp. 869 (N.D. III. 1984) (loan exempt where \$9,000 of \$17,000 borrowed had business purpose); Gombosi v. Carteret Mortg. Corp., 894 F. Supp. 176 (E.D. Pa. 1995) (the fact that the creditor has attempted to comply with TILA is not evidence that the loan is covered by TILA); Jones v. Luthi, 586 F. Supp. 2d 595 (D.S.C. 2008), aff'd, No. 081762, 2009 WL 1144147 (4th Cir. 2009) (no TILA coverage for loans used to build homes for sale); and Hinchliffe v. Option One Mortg. Corp., No. 08-2094, 2009 WL 1708007 (E.D. Pa. June 16, 2009) (coverage of TILA is not dependent on whether property securing loan was borrower's personal residence but instead whether use of proceeds was for personal purposes).

Mr. DeTemple applied for and received the HECM loan to fund the construction of two townhouses on Hubbard Road, which he intended to sell for a profit. Mr. DeTemple admitted this fact during his deposition. Under oath, Mr. DeTemple testified, in multiple instances, that he needed the loan to finish construction. [J.A. at 95-96, 102.] "I have a foundation and I have a building started and my money to put the rest of the building up was coming right out of that loan."

[J.A. at 99.] "[A] bunch of that first money went was into that building." [J.A. at 96.] This

Sioux City v. McGarr, 286 N.W.2d 376, 379 (Iowa 1979) (dealing with refinancing of obligations involving consumer and commercial purposes); Sherrill v. Verde Capital Corp., 719 F.2d 364, 367 (11th Cir. 1983) (the purpose of the transaction is controlling, not the property on which a security interest is retained); In re Denney, No. 06-41877, 2007 WL 4302770 *3 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. Dec. 6, 2007) ("If the primary purpose of the loan at its inception was business, the borrowers' subsequent conduct is immaterial").

testimony, in and of itself, is wholly dispositive to the issue of the primary purpose of the loan.

Mr. DeTemple's commercial venture was the "but for" cause for obtaining the AAG loan.

Moreover, Mr. DeTemple issued a series of checks totaling \$56,000.00 through his construction firm, Shadyside, to complete construction of the first Hubbard Property townhouse. [J.A. at 220-30.] Theses checks follow the approximately \$72,000.00 in loan proceeds Mr. DeTemple received from the HECM loan through the date he sold the first townhouse. [J.A. at 231-35.] In other words, Mr. DeTemple used the HECM proceeds to fund Shadyside's construction of the townhouse, which, in turn, he sold for a profit through Hubbard Townhouse, LLC. This is a clear commercial purpose.

Importantly, the TILA line of cases demonstrate that Mr. DeTemple carries the burden of proving that the loan was entered into primarily for personal purposes, as opposed to providing capital to his businesses. *Katz v. Carte Blanche Corp.*, 496 F.2d 747, 751 (3d Cir. 1974), *cert. denied*, 419 U.S. 885 (1974); *Gombosi v. Carteret Mortg. Corp.*, 894 F. Supp. 176, 180 (E.D. Pa. 1995). Mr. DeTemple cannot meet this burden because his deposition testimony makes the commercial purpose clear, and he admitted that he cannot provide exact dollar figures on how he used the HECM loan proceeds. [J.A. at 455-458 (explaining that "[b]ecause money is fungible, it is impossible to say exactly what these funds were used for" and "[i]t is impossible to provide exact dollar figures as detailed records were not maintained to track loan related spending beyond what has been produced").] Mr. DeTemple's effort to argue otherwise is both subterfuge and disingenuous.

In an attempt to evade his own sworn deposition testimony—almost one year after his unequivocal, unrehearsed statements concerning the commercial purpose of the HECM loan—DeTemple provided an interrogatory response purporting to explain that the HECM proceeds were

used for consumer purposes. [J.A. at 455-458.] The interrogatory response directly contradicted Mr. DeTemple's sworn deposition testimony.¹¹ [Compare J.A. at 95-96, 99, 102 with J.A. at 455-58.] It is patently absurd to suggest that Mr. DeTemple somehow spent more money remodeling a few rooms in his house than he spent building an entire new home from the foundation up, particularly when it is in clear contradiction to sworn deposition testimony. [Compare J.A. at 95-96, 99, 102 with J.A. at 456.]

Mr. DeTemple's deceptive obfuscation of his own sworn deposition testimony is unsurprising. Years ago, DeTemple sued Allstate Insurance Company ("Allstate") alleging that it engaged in bad faith in refusing to pay insurance proceeds for a fire DeTemple intentionally set. See DeTemple v. Allstate Ins. Co., 1999 WL 1276564 (N.D. W. Va. 1999); see also United States v. DeTemple, 162 F.3d 279 (4th Cir. 1998) (affirming DeTemple's convictions for arson, wire fraud, and bankruptcy fraud). Consequently, Judge Stamp ordered Mr. DeTemple to pay Allstate's fees and costs, based on his finding that:

Plaintiff Gary DeTemple attempted to defraud Allstate. He caused his house to be set on fire and then, notwithstanding his own criminal act, filed this lawsuit against Allstate seeking hundreds of thousands of additional dollars in damages. It is clear that the lawsuit was filed in bad faith to perpetuate the fraud. Moreover, despite his criminal conviction, DeTemple continued to maintain his suit.

See DeTemple, 1999 WL 1276564 at *2 (emphasis added).

In addition, Mr. DeTemple's counsel provided an affidavit attempting to analyze the traceability of the HECM loan proceeds. ¹² Mr. DeTemple's deposition testimony belies his

¹¹ cf. [J.A. at 95 ("I don't know that we did the vacation. It's just things that I wanted to do to my home and things that I was going to do on the Hubbard Townhouse. I was getting ready to build that building. Had all the land prepared.")]; with [J.A. 101-102 (explaining that HECM proceeds were used on the duplex [townhouse] and to refinish the rec room in his basement with no mention of any other expenditures).]

¹² AAG filed a motion to strike Mr. Causey's Affidavit. [J.A. 614-57.]

contention that, "at most, 4 transactions are traceable to the loan proceeds, which total \$12,600." [J.A. 551.] Mr. DeTemple acknowledged that he had started the foundation and that the remaining monies to finance the construction of the townhouse were earmarked to come directly from the HECM proceeds. [J.A. at 99, 102-103.] There can be no better evidence than DeTemple's own unrehearsed admissions. It, again, defies all logic—and DeTemple's sworn testimony—to argue that DeTemple completed the construction of the townhouse (except for the foundation) for merely \$12,600.00. [J.A. at 183-213.] This argument is simply not persuasive.

Moreover, the Causey Affidavit and DeTemple's sham discovery responses cannot be used to negate the clear and unequivocal testimony that DeTemple gave at his deposition. After all, this Court has adopted the "sham affidavit" rule, which provides that:

To defeat summary judgment, an affidavit that directly contradicts prior deposition testimony is generally insufficient to create a genuine issue of fact for trial, unless the contradiction is adequately explained. To determine whether the witness's explanation for the contradictory affidavit is adequate, the circuit court should examine: (1) whether the deposition afforded the opportunity for direct and cross-examination of the witness; (2) whether the witness had access to pertinent evidence or information prior to or at the time of his or her deposition, or whether the affidavit was based upon newly discovered evidence not known or available at the time of the deposition; and (3) whether the earlier deposition testimony reflects confusion, lack of recollection or other legitimate lack of clarity that the affidavit justifiably attempts to explain.

Syl. pt. 3, *Tolley v. Carboline Co.*, 617 S.E.2d 508 (W. Va. 2005) (emphasis added). Here, the Causey Affidavit and DeTemple's subsequent discovery responses squarely contradict his deposition testimony. Moreover, DeTemple made no attempt to explain the inconsistencies between his testimony and the Causey Affidavit and his later discovery responses. In addition, DeTemple's counsel had more than adequate opportunities to examine DeTemple at his deposition. Likewise, to the extent the Causey Affidavit and DeTemple's subsequent discovery responses are based on evidence, that evidence would have been available—and known—to DeTemple before

his deposition. There is just no basis to conclude that DeTemple's deposition testimony was the product of confusion.

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